# RECEIVED

02-01-2019

STATE OF WISCONSIN

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT III

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2018AP1696-CR

AHMED FARAH HIRSI,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL OF JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND ORDER DENYING POST-CONVICTION MOTIONS, ENTERED IN THE ST CROIX COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES PETERSON PRESIDING

#### BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

Cole Daniel Ruby State Bar #1064819 Martinez & Ruby, LLP 144 4<sup>th</sup> Ave, Suite 2 Baraboo, WI 53913 (608) 355-2000

#### **ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

1. Whether Hirsi's due process rights were violated by (a) the State's failure to disclose co-defendant Guled Abdi's written proffer agreement to the defense; (b) the State's failure to inform the jury of the full and correct terms of Abdi's plea agreement, including the dismissal of *fifteen* criminal charges in exchange for his pleas; (c) the State's failure to correct Abdi's false testimony at trial claiming he hadn't received a "deal" before he told police Hirsi was the shooter; and (d) failure to instruct the jury on accomplice testimony.

The court concluded no due process violation occurred because the essence of Abdi's cooperation agreement was disclosed to the defense and the jury, Abdi's testimony was not "materially false," and the accomplice instruction wasn't requested.

2. Whether the court erroneously admitted other-acts evidence of an unrelated shooting from Saint Paul, Minnesota, for which Hirsi was acquitted, and compounded the error by failing to instruct the jury that Hirsi was acquitted of that conduct, as required by *State v*. *Landrum*?

The court concluded that the other-acts evidence was properly admitted on the purpose of identity, and declined to reconsider during post-conviction proceedings. The court ruled that instructing the jury on Hirsi's acquittal for the other-acts incident would have confused the jury.

3. Whether the court erred by admitting lay opinion testimony from two detectives identifying Hirsi as the individual holding a gun in the Saint Paul photographs, considering the testifying detective had no foundation for such testimony, and the court's restrictions on the Saint

# Paul evidence precluded Hirsi from impeaching another detective on her bias?

The court concluded that the lay opinion witnesses had foundation, and there was no error in admitting the testimony.

4. Whether plain error occurred when the State offered irrelevant, inflammatory "expert" testimony claiming Somalis were uncooperative with law enforcement and had a "tendency to fabricate events," and made arguments attempting to discredit witnesses favorable to the defense based on this alleged "cultural bias"?

The court acknowledged this was a "difficult" issue, and would have sustained an objection to some of the testimony, but believed the State wasn't intending to malign Somali culture. The court concluded any error wasn't sufficient to warrant reversal.

5. Whether a new trial was required in the interest of justice because the real controversy was not fully tried, considering the jury did not hear crucial evidence supporting the defense, heard substantial improper evidence, and was not adequately instructed?

The court held the real controversy was fully tried.

### STATEMENT ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Oral argument is appropriate and requested in this case under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.22. Appellant's arguments clearly are substantial and do not fall within that class of frivolous or near frivolous arguments concerning which oral argument may be denied under Rule 809.22(2)(a). Publication likely is justified under Wis. Stat. (Rule) 809.23. Several of the issues present questions of first impression. No Wisconsin case directly addresses whether the State, as the proponent of accomplice testimony, is required to inform the jury of the full details of the accomplice's cooperation agreement, or if that burden falls on the defense through cross-examination.

As the trial court noted, there are no published Wisconsin cases addressing the propriety of lay opinion witnesses offering opinions on the identity of a suspect in photographs or videos.

Finally, while there are federal and out-of-state cases finding plain error when the State presents prejudicial testimony and argument regarding racial or ethnic minorities, no published Wisconsin cases address this important issue directly.

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

#### COURT OF APPEALS

#### DISTRICT III

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

Case No. 2018AP1696-CR

AHMED FARAH HIRSI,

Defendant-Appellant.

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. Summary

Ahmed Hirsi was convicted at jury trial in connection with a shooting in a liquor store parking lot in Hudson, Wisconsin. The shooter fired several shots into a parked car occupied by six individuals. Bullets struck three of the occupants—M.H., F.A. and A.H.—while the other three occupants (F.M., M.M. and S.N.) were unharmed.<sup>1</sup>

The State charged Hirsi with six counts of attempted  $1^{st}$  degree intentional homicide, three counts of  $1^{st}$  degree reckless injury (for each victim wounded during the shooting), six counts of  $1^{st}$  degree recklessly endangering safety, and possession of a firearm by a felon. Hirsi, appearing *pro se*, argued the evidence was insufficient to prove he was the shooter, and averred that his testifying co-defendant, Guled Abdi, committed the crime. The jury acquitted Hirsi of the attempted homicide charges for the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The appellant's brief will identify the victims by initials only, consistent with Wis. Stat. sec. 809.86(4).

victims not struck during the shooting, but convicted on all remaining charges.<sup>2</sup> Following the denial of his postconviction motions for a new trial, Hirsi raises numerous evidentiary and legal challenges on appeal.

#### **B. Jury Trial**

The shooting occurred in the parking lot of Spirit Seller, a liquor store, on January 17, 2014 (R253:173). A Spirit Seller worker, Ethan Siam, observed two vehicles parked together facing opposite directions—a tan Cadillac and a blue Kia (R253:174-75). Siam was watching the vehicles when the shooting began, between 9:15-9:30 am (R253:183-84). Siam heard about 8 gunshots, and then the Cadillac drove off (R253:176). Two of the victims entered his store, both of whom had suffered bullet wounds, so Siam called 911 (R253:177-81). Hudson police found a third victim, F.A., outside in the blue Kia with a gunshot wound to the abdomen (R253:127-29).

A second witness, Barry Lundeen, heard gunshots around 9:20 am, and saw a Cadillac with Minnesota plates driving away (R253:192). Minnesota officers subsequently observed a gold Cadillac DeVille with Minnesota plates occupied by two Somali males—Abdi and Hirsi (R264:23-24). Abdi was the Cadillac's registered owner (R253:113; R264:40-41). When the vehicle stopped at a Hampton Inn in Bloomington, Minnesota, officers arrested Abdi and Hirsi walking nearby (R265:43-47).

At trial, the only person who affirmatively identified Hirsi as the shooter was co-defendant Abdi (R263:11). None of the witnesses on scene identified a shooter. Ethan Siam didn't see the shooter (R253:183-84). Barry Lundeen couldn't

 $<sup>^2</sup>$  On the defendant's post-conviction motion, the circuit court vacated the three reckless endangerment convictions corresponding to the three victims struck during the shooting, because those convictions violated double jeopardy. That issue is not raised on appeal.

describe any suspects (R253:192-94). Tania and Greg Dowd, two shoppers at the Spirit Seller, heard the shots and witnessed the aftermath, but did not see the shooter (R253:222,233).

None of victims from the Kia identified Hirsi as the shooter. The State represented in opening arguments that the shooting occurred because Hirsi exchanged derogatory names in Somali with a girl he recognized—F.A.—and that Hirsi shot the victims over "name calling" (R253:112). However, F.A. testified she didn't know anyone in the other car (R264:9). While she heard people saying the derogatory Somali-language term ("nyah"), F.A. said the shooting did not occur immediately afterward (R264:11). F.A. believed the shooter was in the front passenger seat, but could not identify who (R264:14,20). When shown a photo array containing Hirsi's photo, F.A. did not identify Hirsi as the shooter (R265:244, 247-48).

According to Hudson Sgt. Schultz, victim S.N. was unable to identify the shooter (R260:38). Two victims–M.M. and M.H.–wouldn't cooperate with police (R253:143; R260:237-38).

One victim affirmatively testified Hirsi was <u>not</u> the shooter. The Kia's driver, A.H., who was shot in the shoulder, testified he knew who the shooter was, and it was not Hirsi (R260:67). Before trial, A.H. told police they had the wrong man in custody (R260:70). On cross-exam, A.H. was impeached with whether he'd told police the passenger shot him (R260:105). However, A.H. maintained Hirsi was <u>not</u> the shooter (R260:106,111).

The State attempted to discredit the importance of the victims' inability to identify Hirsi through the testimony of Detective Tracy Henry, an "expert" on Somali culture. Henry testified Somalis usually "settle matters among themselves,"

and as a result only about 1/4 of Somali-on-Somali homicides in Minneapolis-St. Paul had been successfully prosecuted (R265:77-80). Further, Henry testified victims of Somali-on-Somali crime had a "tendency to fabricate" facts to avoid retribution (R265:80). In closing arguments, the prosecutor argued A.H. lied due to "cultural bias" and Somalian culture's lack of cooperation with law enforcement, as previously explained by Henry (R266:41,49,58). The prosecutor further argued—falsely—that only two of six victims made any statement to police (R266:41).<sup>3</sup>

The State attempted to prove the shooter's identity based on positioning within the Cadillac, but evidence on this point was conflicting. Two victims (F.A. and A.H.) made pretrial statements indicating the passenger was the shooter, while Ethan Siem testified the bullets came from the driver's side (R253:183-84). Abdi was the passenger when observed by law enforcement, but Abdi also testified he drove the vehicle to the Spirit Seller (R263:49-50). Abdi acknowledged the shots discharged through the driver's side window, where he claimed to be sitting (R262:5). Abdi further testified Hirsi made him switch seats after the shooting, such that Hirsi was the driver and Abdi was the passenger when they reached the Hampton Inn (R261:13,16). But no other witnesses corroborated Abdi's claim about switching seats.

Abdi further claimed Hirsi put evidence from the shooting in a white plastic bag and attempted to hide it at the Hampton Inn before police located the suspects (R261:16-19). That bag found by law enforcement contained 9 mm Luger shells, consistent with the type of bullet used in the shooting (R265:17-18;171-77). However, Officer Sean Sweeney, who first observed the two Somali males exiting the Cadillac at the Hampton Inn, observed the <u>passenger</u>—not

 $<sup>^{3}</sup>$  As will be discussed *supra*, in addition to being legally improper, this argument is factually false, as four of the six victims gave statements to police.

the driver—to be carrying the white bag with the 9 mm shells (R265:196-98).

Available physical evidence couldn't distinguish whether either Hirsi or Abdi was the shooter. The gun used in the shooting was never recovered, and was therefore not subject to testing for DNA or fingerprints (*See, generally*, R265:212). Bullets and shell casings were recovered, and the State presented testimony from fingerprint examiners and a DNA analyst. None testified that any of the bullets or shell casings was linked to Hirsi. And although both Hirsi and Abdi were swabbed for gunshot residue, no testing was conducted (R265:109-12).

The prosecution attempted to shore up these deficiencies by presenting other-acts evidence of a Saint Paul, Minnesota shooting allegedly committed by Hirsi on January 17, 2014, two days before the Hudson shooting. The State offered photographic evidence from the Minnesota case as well as a ballistics expert who testified one bullet recovered from the Saint Paul incident appeared to be fired from the same model firearm as the Hudson shooting. The trial court, over Hirsi's objection and motion to exclude, admitted this evidence (R256:73-79).

The court also denied Hirsi's request to inform the jury he was acquitted of the Saint Paul allegations following a jury trial in District Court of Ramsey County, Minnesota, and granted the State's motion to exclude any reference to the acquittal (R258:50-53). The cautionary instruction given to the jury made no mention of Hirsi's acquittal (R266:24-25). Yet in closing arguments, the State argued Hirsi fired the same gun in both Hudson and the Saint Paul incident (for which he stood acquitted) (R266:75-77). Hirsi was precluded from arguing his acquittal. Since no firearm was recovered from Saint Paul, the State could not present any forensic evidence directly linking Hirsi to that shooting, such as DNA, blood, or fingerprints. Nor did the State present any witnesses who actually observed the shooting, nor any witnesses to say they personally observed Hirsi at the scene. Instead, the State presented lay opinion testimony from Guled Abdi,<sup>4</sup> Det. Henry, and Det. Willems purporting to identify Hirsi as the suspect in the surveillance video and photographs from the Saint Paul apartment complex (R261:27-30; R265:83-89,225-227). This testimony was also presented over Hirsi's pretrial motion to exclude witnesses from identifying him from video and photographs (R256:61-68; R258:12-17).

The primary evidence against Hirsi came from Abdi, who described driving Hirsi to the Spirit Seller and running into people Hirsi knew from the Kia (R263:49-50; R261:1-4). Abdi claimed the Kia pulled alongside Abdi's Cadillac, and a female driver rolled down her window, asking if she knew Abdi (R261:5-6). According to Abdi, Hirsi began saying "nyah, nyah, nyah," and the woman repeated the phrase back to Hirsi, who then "pulled out a handgun out of nowhere and started shooting" (R261:11). Abdi claimed Hirsi fired between 8-14 times, before putting the gun to Abdi's head and threatening to shoot him if he didn't drive away (R261:11-13).

Abdi drove the Cadillac on I-94 toward Minneapolis, stopping at Hirsi's mother's house (R261:12-15). While Hirsi went inside and changed clothes, Abdi made several phone calls (R261:15-16). Abdi testified they switched so Hirsi was driving, and Hirsi intended to drive back to the La Quinta hotel to meet some girls before noticing a police officer following them (R261:16-18). They pulled over at the Bloomington Hampton Inn, and Abdi claimed Hirsi carried

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> There was no evidence Guled Abdi was at the St. Paul scene or incident at which Hirsi was acquitted.

out a white bag, which he proceeded to hide inside the hotel (R261:18-19).

Through direct examination, the State informed the jury that Abdi's plea agreement was as follows: (1) he agreed to plead to two felony charges; (2) the agreement required him to testify truthfully; and (3) if he testified truthfully at Hirsi's trial, the State would recommend a period of two years' incarceration (R261:39).

On cross-exam, Abdi acknowledged he was previously charged with the same counts as Hirsi (R262:8-9). Abdi denied receiving a deal before telling Hudson police Hirsi was the shooter (R262:7). Abdi testified he didn't receive a deal to say Hirsi was the shooter, but to tell the truth (R262:8). When asked if he'd only received 2 years as part of his deal, Abdi claimed he "didn't receive anything yet" (R262:8). Abdi was impeached with false statements to police during his initial questioning, where he claimed the Cadillac wasn't his vehicle, and he'd only been picked up 20-30 minutes before his arrest (R262:11-18). Further, Abdi acknowledged the shots were fired through the driver's window, and he was in the driver's seat (R262:5).

Abdi's testimony identifying Hirsi as the shooter was crucial because no one else identified a shooter and the other evidence was equivocal. In closing arguments, Hirsi argued Abdi was lying in exchange for a deal, and suggested Abdi was the shooter (R266:67-68). The State argued Abdi's credibility is "what this case really comes down to," and urged the jury to find Abdi was telling the truth (R266:39,42-47). Further, the prosecution repeatedly emphasized the ability of Abdi, Det. Willems, and Det. Henry to identify Hirsi from the Saint Paul shooting photographs, supposedly linking Hirsi to that shooting (R266:53-57;59-60,76-77,83). The jury convicted Hirsi of all charges, except the three attempted homicide charges regarding the victims who were not wounded in the shooting (R266:106-13).

The court sentenced Hirsi to an aggregate sentence of 50 years initial confinement and 35 years extended supervision (R254:23,29).

#### **C.** Post-Conviction Litigation

Hirsi filed post-conviction motions seeking a new trial based on the following errors: (1) due process and discovery violations for the State's failure to inform the jury of Abdi's full plea agreement and correct his false testimony, and for the jury not being properly instructed on accomplice testimony; (2) erroneous admission of other-acts evidence from the Saint Paul shooting, while precluding the jury from learning of Hirsi's acquittal; (3) improper testimony identifying Hirsi from photographs from the Saint Paul incident; (4) inflammatory and prejudicial "expert" testimony characterizing Somalis as having a "tendency to fabricate" and discussing irrelevant Somali-on-Somali crime statistics; (5) improper closing arguments from the prosecutor; and (6) the real controversy was not fully tried based on these errors, as well as the jury not hearing testimony from witness Maryann Hurshe establishing that Abdi carried a gun the morning of the shooting, and made statements establishing Guled Abdi's stated motive (revenge) to commit the shooting (R189).

After the parties submitted briefs (R200, R204), the court held two motion hearings. The first hearing focused on oral arguments for and against the motions (R277). The second was an evidentiary hearing where the court heard testimony from Maryann Hurshe and oral arguments about the real controversy motion (R276:10-58), before orally denying the motions (R276:58-73). The court issued a written

order denying the motions based on the reasons given during its oral ruling (R247).

Hirsi timely filed a notice of appeal from the judgment of conviction and the order denying post-conviction motions (R248). Additional facts, including the court's specific reasoning for denying the post-conviction motions, will be provided where appropriate.

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. HIRSI'S DUE PROCESS RIGHTS WERE VIOLATED BY THE FAILURE TO DISCLOSE ABDI'S FULL PLEA AGREEMENT TO BOTH THE DEFENSE AND THE JURY, THE FAILURE TO CORRECT ABDI'S FALSE TESTIMONY, AND THE FAILURE TO PROPERLY INSTRUCT THE JURY ON ACCOMPLICE TESTIMONY

#### A. Standard of Review

An accomplice's confession implicating the accused is "presumptively unreliable." *Lilly v. Virginia*, 527 U.S. 116, 131 (1999). Accordingly, when the State grants concessions in exchange for testimony by accomplices implicating a defendant, the defendant's right to a fair trial is safeguarded by (1) full disclosure to both the defendant and the jury of the terms of the agreements struck with the witnesses; (2) the opportunity for full cross-examination of those witnesses concerning the agreements; and (3) instructions cautioning the jury to carefully evaluate the weight and credibility of the testimony of such witnesses. *See State v. Nerison*, 136 Wis.2d 37, 46, 401 N.W.2d 1 (1987); *Hoffa v. United States*, 385 U.S. 293, 311-12 (1966).

Further, "the suppression by the prosecution of evidence favorable to an accused upon request violates due process where the evidence is material either to guilt or to punishment, irrespective of the good faith or bad faith of the prosecution." *Brady v. Maryland*, 373 U.S. 83, 87 (1963).

Due process further prevents a prosecutor from relying on testimony the district attorney knows to be false, or later learns to be false. *See Nerison*, 136 Wis.2d 54; *Giglio v. United States*, 405 U.S. 150, 153-54 (1972). The Supreme Court has held that "a conviction obtained through use of false evidence, known to be such by representatives of the State, must fall under the Fourteenth Amendment." *Napue v. Illinois*, 360 U.S. 264, 269 (1959). A new trial is required if a petitioner establishes (1) the prosecution failed to disclose that false testimony was used to convict, (2) the prosecution knew or should have known that the testimony was false, and (3) there is a reasonable likelihood that the testimony could have affected the jury's judgment. *Id.* 

Reviewing courts independently determine whether a due process violation occurred, but accept the trial court's findings of historical fact unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Sturgeon*, 231 Wis.2d 487, 496, 605 N.W.2d 589 (Ct. App. 1999).

#### **B.** Factual Background

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