RECEIVED

STATE OF WISCONSIN 05-02-2019

COURT OF APPEAL SCLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT III

Case No. 2018AP1696-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

AHMED FARAH HIRSI,

Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION AND AN ORDER DENYING MOTIONS FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF, ENTERED IN ST. CROIX COUNTY CIRCUIT COURT, THE HONORABLE JAMES M. PETERSON, PRESIDING

BRIEF OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

JOSHUA L. KAUL Attorney General of Wisconsin

SARA LYNN SHAEFFER Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1087785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

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

C. Hirsi waived a challenge to the trial court's failure to instruct the jury on his acquittal; alternatively, there is no reversible error.

Hirsi's complaint regarding the lack of instruction to the jury regarding his acquittal is waived. Here, the court conducted a jury instruction conference where the parties discussed each proposed instruction and noted their objections. When the Court asked if either party was requesting an additional instruction, both the State and Hirsi indicated that they were not. (R. 260:186.) By failing to request that the jury be instructed about his acquittal, Hirsi has waived this issue. See Roth, 115 Wis. 2d at 167–68.

And regardless of his waiver, Hirsi fails to identify any case law that requires a court to provide a jury instruction

regarding an acquittal. He invokes *State v. Landrum*, 191 Wis. 2d 107, 528 N.W.2d 36 (Ct. App. 1995), but all that *Landrum* provides is that "[a]n acquittal does not prove that the defendant is innocent; it merely proves the existence of a reasonable doubt as to his guilt." 191 Wis. 2d at 120 (citing *Dowling v. United States*, 493 U.S. 342, 349 (1990)). Accordingly, and as Hirsi notes in his brief, *Landrum* merely recognized a "potential" for prejudice if other acts are admitted. While in *Landrum*, the court provided a limiting instruction, *Landrum*, 191 Wis. 2d at 122, nothing in *Landrum* requires a limiting instruction in every case.

Nor does Dowling, 493 U.S. 342 "dictate" reversal here. (Hirsi's Br. 32.) At issue in Dowling was whether evidence that the defendant been acquitted on a prior charge violated due process or double jeopardy. Dowling, 493 U.S. at 353. The Supreme Court held that the use of the evidence was constitutional, "[e]specially in light of the instructions provided by the trial judge," which explained to the jury the limited purpose for which the evidence had been offered. Id. at 353. Like Landrum, Dowling does not require courts to advise the jury of a defendant's acquittal. See, e.g., United States v. Tirrell, 120 F.3d 670 (7th Cir. 1997) (holding that Dowling does not require the jury to be told of an acquittal). And as the *Landrum* court stated, 191 Wis. 2d at 120, and the circuit court noted here (R. 276:65; 277:44), judgments of acquittal are irrelevant because they do not prove innocence; they simply show that the State did not prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. The court also explained that it was concerned that evidence of Hirsi's acquittal "would have created some confusion" and invited speculation. (*Id.*)

Finally, in this case, neither side made any reference to the St. Paul "trial" or even to the fact that Hirsi had been charged. The circuit court correctly surmised that a reference to the trial and acquittal could have confused the jury. In the circumstances presented here, the court's ruling was not "plainly erroneous" (Hirsi's Br. 32), and it is certainly not reversible error.

D. If the court erred in admitting the otheracts evidence, the error was harmless.

Here, any error was harmless because the court provided a limiting instruction to the jury:

[E] vidence has been presented regarding other conduct of the Defendant for which the Defendant is not on trial. Specifically evidence has been presented that the Defendant possessed and fired a handgun on January 17th, 2014, and that a fired bullet was recovered from that shooting. If you find that this conduct did occur, you should consider it only on the issue of identity. You may not consider this evidence to conclude that the Defendant has a certain character or a certain character trait and that the Defendant acted in conformity with that trait or character with respect to the offense charged in this case. The evidence was received on the issue of identity, that is, whether the prior conduct tends to identify the Defendant as the one who committed the offense charged.

You may consider this evidence only for the purpose I have described, giving it the weight you determine it deserves. It is not to be used to conclude that the Defendant is a bad person and for that reason is guilty of the offense charged.

(R. 266:24–25 (emphasis added).) Jurors are presumed to follow the court's instructions. *State v. LaCount*, 2008 WI 59, ¶ 23, 310 Wis. 2d 85, 750 N.W.2d 780. In this case, the trial court correctly informed the jury of the limited purpose of the other-acts evidence. *See State v. Payano*, 2009 WI 86, ¶ 100, 320 Wis. 2d 348, 768 N.W.2d 832 ("Other act evidence normally *should* be accompanied by an admonitory or limiting instruction precisely because the evidence is being introduced for only a limited purpose.") (citing 7 Daniel D. Blinka,

Wisconsin Practice Series: Wisconsin Evidence § 404.6 at 186 (3d ed. 2008)).

Hirsi is correct that he pointed out to the jury that no weapon was analyzed to determine who was in possession of the gun. (Hirsi's Br. 34.) Yet the jury heard this argument, as well as the rest of the evidence, and it convicted Hirsi anyway. Hirsi is incorrect, however, that the State "crossed the line" during closing arguments. 14 (See id.) The State argued the other-acts evidence for its permissible purpose of identity: "You saw the picture of the individual who was identified as Ahmed Hirsi holding the gun, a gun. You heard the evidence about the bullet hole in the apartment. That bullet is the same -- comes from the same gun as the bullets used in the shooting here in Hudson." (R. 266:76.) The State further argued: "[t]here is no evidence of anybody else. And that gun is the same gun used here in Hudson. That nexus, that's scientific evidence, that's circumstantial evidence that connects him." (R. 266:77.)

The circuit court did not err when it admitted the otheracts evidence; even so, any error was harmless.

III. The trial court properly admitted lay opinion testimony from Detectives Henry and Willems regarding the identification of Hirsi in surveillance images.

A. Legal principles and standard of review

The admission of lay opinion testimony is governed by Wis. Stat. § 907.01:

907.01 Opinion testimony by lay witnesses. If the witness is not testifying as an expert, the witness's testimony in the form of opinions or inferences is

¹⁴ Hirsi does not claim prosecutorial misconduct. See also State's Brief at 32 n.17.

limited to those opinions or inferences which are all of the following:

- (1) Rationally based on the perception of the witness.
- (2) Helpful to a clear understanding of the witness's testimony or the determination of a fact in issue.
- (3) Not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge within the scope of a witness under s. 907.02 (1).

"[T]he opinion or inference permitted by this rule is, in reality, the witness's conclusory description of what he or she has perceived." Ralph Adam Fine, *Fine's Wisconsin Evidence* § 907 at 280 (2d ed. 2008). Further, Wis. Stat. § 907.04 provides that "[t]estimony in the form of an opinion or inference otherwise admissible is not objectionable because it embraces an ultimate issue to be decided by the trier of fact."

The trial court has discretion whether to admit opinion testimony, and this Court will uphold such a decision unless the trial court failed to exercise its discretion or its decision lacked a reasonable basis. Wester v. Bruggink, 190 Wis. 2d 308, 317, 527 N.W.2d 373 (Ct. App. 1994); see also York v. State, 45 Wis. 2d 550, 560, 173 N.W.2d 693 (1970) (evidentiary rules limiting opinion testimony should not generally exclude evidence pertaining to the "corporal appearance" of things, nor to "the probability or possibility of an event, form, identity, speed, time, size, weight and direction"). 15

¹⁵ Hirsi cites two 9th Circuit cases, *United States v. Barrett*, 703 F.2d 1076 (9th Cir. 1983) and *United State v. LaPierre*, 998 F.2d 1460 (9th Cir. 1993), for persuasive authority. (Hirsi's Br. 36–37.) Because Wisconsin has adequate statutes and case law on this subject, the State applies that controlling law.

B. Detective Willems's testimony

"[O]bjections to the admissibility of evidence must be made promptly and in terms which inform the [trial] court of the exact grounds upon which the objection is based." *State v. Hartman*, 145 Wis. 2d 1, 9, 426 N.W.2d 320 (1988). The trial court has no duty to independently strike inadmissible testimony. *State v. Johnson*, 2004 WI 94, ¶ 25, 273 Wis. 2d 626, 681 N.W.2d 901.

To start, to the extent that Hirsi argues that Willems did not have the proper foundation to identify Hirsi based on her prior contact with him (Hirsi's Br. 37), Hirsi waived that argument by not objecting at trial. *See Johnson*, 273 Wis. 2d 626, ¶ 25. Similarly, while "no opportunity was provided [to Hirsi] to voir dire" Willems (Hirsi's Br. 37), Hirsi did not request any such opportunity. This was Hirsi's, not the court's, failure.

And by failing to raise a foundational objection, Hirsi did not give the trial court or the State an opportunity to correct any potential error in admitting Willems's testimony. Therefore, the question whether the trial court properly exercised its discretion in resolving any foundation problem is unpreserved for appeal. *See State v. Romero*, 147 Wis. 2d 264, 274, 432 N.W.2d 899 (1988).

Even ignoring waiver, Hirsi loses because Willems had an adequate foundation for his testimony. Willems testified that he had spent "[h]undreds" of hours working on this case, and that due to his involvement, he was able to identify Hirsi in certain photographs. (R. 265:224.) Beyond this, Hirsi was afforded the opportunity to fully cross-examine Willems. Willems rationally based his lay opinion on his perceptions, it was helpful to the determination of a fact in issue, and it was not based on scientific, technical, or other specialized knowledge. See Wis. Stat. § 907.01. And as the postconviction court determined, "[a]ll the witnesses that testified had

identified [Hirsi] out of the imag[es]. They had an opportunity to see him and know what he looks like." (R. 276:65.) The circuit court soundly exercised its discretion in allowing Willems's testimony.

C. Detective Henry's testimony

Likewise, Hirsi waived by not raising an objection to Detective Henry's testimony based on what he now claims is her bias against him. (Hirsi's Br. 38.) Notably, in arguing that his acquittal should be introduced at the trial stage, Hirsi did not claim Henry was biased, nor did he ask to voir dire her outside of the presence of the jury. Hence, Hirsi waived his arguments regarding Henry's "bias." *See Johnson*, 273 Wis. 2d 626, ¶ 25.

Hirsi also loses on the merits. To start, Hirsi bases his claim of bias on speculation, ¹⁶ and he makes no proffer of Henry's bias. (Hirsi's Br. 37–38.) In addition, as the court explained at the motion hearing, the value of the witness testimony was up to the jury: "[I]f there's somebody that knows you, and can identify you and give their opinion that that's you, the jury would be able to also see the video. And if they don't agree with the witness, they don't believe it's you, it's ultimately up to the jury. And they're instructed to that effect." (R. 258:12.)

Indeed, the court instructed the jury that it was to determine the weight it should give to Abdi's, Henry's, and Willems's identification testimony:

Ordinarily a witness may testify only about facts. However, in this case Guled Abdi, Tracy Henry and Geoff Willems were allowed to give an opinion as to the identity of Ahmed Hirsi. In determining the weight you give to this opinion, you should consider

¹⁶ Hirsi, with no citation to the record, argues that "she likely felt Hirsi escaped justice in [the St. Paul] case." (Hirsi's Br. 38.)

the witnesses's opportunity to observe what happened and the extent to which the opinion is based on that observation. Opinion evidence was received to help you reach a conclusion. However, you are not bound by the opinion of any witness.

(R. 266:28–29.) Hirsi did not object to this instruction. (R. 266:5–6.)

Finally, if Hirsi truly thought that Henry was biased, he could have cross-examined her about it. As the postconviction court determined, Hirsi "had the opportunity to rebut these issues, but he chose not to. And that was his choice. He was *pro se*, and that was his strategy." (R. 277:73.)

In sum, the circuit court soundly allowed Henry's lay opinion testimony.

D. Any error in admitting the detectives' testimony identifying Hirsi was harmless.

The question of harmless error arises only if this Court concludes that the Detectives' opinion testimony should have been excluded. Even if this is the case, Hirsi is not entitled to relief because there is no reasonable possibility that the testimony was critical to the jury's verdict. *State v. Dyess*, 124 Wis. 2d 525, 543, 370 N.W.2d 222 (1985).

As discussed above, the other evidence at trial linked Hirsi to the Hudson shooting, including Abdi's testimony about his and Hirsi's involvement in the Hudson shooting, expert testimony, as well as the identity evidence regarding the St. Paul shooting. Therefore, even without the detectives' lay testimony, there was no reasonable probability that the jury would have reached a different verdict. The error is harmless, and Hirsi is not entitled to a new trial.

IV. Hirsi is not entitled to relief on his claim regarding Detective Henry's expert testimony.

To start, Hirsi received notice of Detective Henry's proposed expert testimony and did not object to it; hence, he has waived his claim of error (Hirsi's Br. 40) to its admission. Before trial, the State notified the court and Hirsi of its intent to offer Henry as an expert regarding the Somali culture. (R. 265:70; 80:2.) Hirsi informed the court that he received notice of Henry's proposed testimony and that he did not object to it. (R. 80; 265:70–71.)

The Wisconsin Supreme Court has explained the importance of the waiver rule:

We have described this rule as the "waiver rule," in the sense that issues that are not preserved are deemed waived. The waiver rule is not merely a technicality or a rule of convenience; it is an essential principle of the orderly administration of justice. The rule promotes both efficiency and fairness, and "go[es] to the heart of the common law tradition and the adversary system."

State v. Huebner, 2000 WI 59, ¶ 11, 235 Wis. 2d 486, 611 N.W.2d 727 (citations omitted). Here, Hirsi waived this claim, and on appeal, he has failed to cite any authority that would justify his circumventing the waiver rule. 17 (Hirsi's Br. 45–46.)

Further, Hirsi could have, but did not, bring in his own expert to dispute Henry's testimony or argue that Henry was not qualified to discuss the Somali culture. Also, the court

¹⁷ To the extent that Hirsi takes issue with the some of the prosecutor's statements during closing argument (Hirsi's Br. 44–45), Hirsi raises no claim of prosecutorial misconduct, even though he raised it in his postconviction motion (R. 189:24). This claim is therefore abandoned, and the State does not respond to Hirsi's accusations.

instructed the jury that it was not bound by an expert's opinion:

[A] witness with expertise in a particular field may give an opinion in that field. In determining the weight to give to this opinion, you should consider the qualifications and credibility of the witness, the facts upon which the opinion is based and the reasons given for the opinion. Opinion evidence was received to help you reach a conclusion. However, you are not bound by any expert's opinion.

(R. 266:28.)

Because Hirsi did not object to Henry's testimony, he relies on the doctrine of plain error, which allows this Court to review errors waived by a party's failure to timely object. Wis. Stat. § 901.03(4); *State v. Cameron*, 2016 WI App 54, ¶ 11, 370 Wis. 2d 661, 885 N.W.2d 611. The plain error doctrine should be employed sparingly. *State v. Jorgensen*, 2008 WI 60, ¶ 21, 310 Wis. 2d 138, 754 N.W.2d 77. "For example, 'where a basic constitutional right has not been extended to the accused,' the plain error doctrine should be utilized." *Id.* (citation omitted).

This is not the rare case triggering plain-error review. Hirsi argues that because "Hirsi represented himself pro se" the admission of the testimony constitutes plain error. (Hirsi's Br. 46.) But Hirsi fails to cite any case law supporting that proposition. On the contrary, Hirsi is to be held to the same standards as a reasonably competent attorney, and he has no license "not to comply with relevant rules of procedural and substantive law." *Graf*, 166 Wis. 2d at 452 (citation omitted).

Hirsi is not entitled to relief on his claim regarding Henry's expert testimony.

V. The real controversy was fully tried.

This Court may grant a new trial in the interest of justice when it appears from the record that the real

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